IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. SC04-174

Petitioner,

LT Case No. 4D02-4985

v.

ERICK RICHARDSON,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF
APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL
Tallahassee, Florida
CELIA TERENZIO
BUREAU CHIEF, WEST PALM BEACH
Florida Bar No. 0656879
DANIEL P. HYNDMAN
Florida Bar No. 0814113
Assistant Attorney Generals
Florida Bar No.: 0814113
1515 North Flagler Drive
Suite 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 837-5000

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellee the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Petitioner will be referred to herein as "the Petitioner" or the "State". Respondent, Erick Richardson, was the defendant in the trial court and Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent will be referred to as "the Respondent" or "Richardson".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts of the case, as recited in the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal ("Fourth District"), are as follows:

. . . Richardson was convicted of robbery and sentenced as a habitual offender to twenty years in prison. Richardson claimed that the predicate convictions used to declare him a habitual offender were not sequential. To establish Richardson as a habitual felony offender, the State relied on prior convictions in case numbers 93-4322, for possession of cocaine, and 93-15462, for grand theft. The record shows that although a conviction in the possession case was entered on April 14, 1993, Richardson was placed on probation. Richardson was convicted on the grand theft charge on September 23, 1993. On the same day, September 23, the court found Richardson in violation of probation on the possession case and sentences were entered on both charges.

Erick Richardson v. State of Florida, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D215 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 14, 2004), *On Motion for Rehearing*. In its original opinion, the Fourth District reversed the trial court's summary denial of Richardson's motion for post-conviction relief on the claim that the predicate convictions used to declare him a habitual felony offender were not sequential. Erick Richardson v. State of Florida, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D1716 (Fla. 4th DCA July 23, 2003). Citing section 775.084(5), Florida Statutes (2002), the Fourth District found that the prior convictions did not

meet the separate sentencing requirement of that section: "The sequential conviction requirement found in the habitual offender statute requires that prior felonies must have 'resulted in a conviction sentenced separately prior to the current offense and *sentenced separately from any other felony conviction that is to be counted as a prior felony.*'" Id. at D1717 (emphasis in opinion).

The Fourth District held that the separate sentence requirement was not met since Richardson was not actually sentenced on the possession charge until he was found in violation of probation on September 23, 1993, which was the same day he was sentenced on the grand theft charge. Id. Rejecting the State's contention that he was originally sentenced (for purposes of the habitual offender statute) on the possession charge when he was convicted and placed on probation on April 14, 1993, the Fourth District held that:

A sentence and probation are distinct concepts . . . When a defendant is placed on probation, the court *must stay and withhold the imposition of a sentence* regardless of whether adjudication of guilt is withheld . . . Richardson was sentenced on the possession charge for the first time after the finding of violation of probation . . . Thus, the sentences for the predicate convictions were entered on the same day.

Id. (emphasis in opinion)(internal citations omitted). Citing

this Court's opinion in Bover v. State, 797 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 2001)¹, the Fourth District held that the record in the instant case failed to demonstrate that the sentence entered on the violation of probation and the sentence entered on the grand theft charge, which were entered on the same day (September 23, 1993), took place at separate proceedings. Richardson, 28 Fla. L. Weekly at D1717.

Thereafter, the State filed a motion for rehearing which was granted in part by the Fourth District and a supplement to the original opinion was issued. Erick Richardson v. State of Florida, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D215 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 14, 2004). In this supplemental opinion, the Fourth District addressed section 775.084(2), Florida Statutes (2002), which provides that:

For the purposes of this section, the placing of a person on probation or community control without an adjudication of guilt shall be treated as a prior conviction.

The Fourth District rejected the State's argument that this section provides that the date of sentencing of Richardson's first prior (the possession charge), for purposes of separate sentencing requirement, was the date he was placed on probation

¹Bover held that under section 775.084(5), which requires separate sentencing for the two prior offenses, may be satisfied when the sentences take place on the same day as long as there are separate sentencing proceedings.

for this charge. Richardson, 29 Fla. L. Weekly at D216. The Fourth District also rejected the State's argument that its holding deprived section 775.084(2) of any effect and would lead to absurd results. Id. The Court concluded that subsections (2) and (5), when read together, were "ambiguous", but "not inconsistent." Id.

The Fourth District stated that subsection (5) modifies subsection (2), and read the subsections together as follows:

Subsection two addresses the "prior-ness" of the adjudication of guilt upon revocation of probation. The initial offense is considered "prior" although adjudication may occur contemporaneously or even subsequent to the conviction on the new offense. Subsection five provides the independent requirement that sentencing on the VOP occur in a separate proceeding prior to sentencing on the felony "to be sentenced" and separate from any other felony conviction that is to be counted as a prior felony.

29 Fla. L. Weekly at D216. However, the Fourth District noted that the Court in McCall v. State, 862 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), reached an opposite conclusion and held that "the imposition of probation was a 'sentence' for purposes of the sequential sentencing proceeding requirement in the habitual felony offender statute", and quoted the holding of McCall that:

When it enacted the habitual felony offender statute, the legislature intended that once a defendant had twice been

convicted with sanctions the third conviction would be enhanced. We find that a sentence, as referred to in section 775.084, includes the sanction of probation.

29 Fla. L. Weekly at D216. Recognizing that the McCall Court certified conflict with its initial opinion in the instant case, the Fourth District then certified conflict with McCall. 29 Fla. L. Weekly at D216.

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

The Fourth District erroneously interpreted subsections (2) and (5) of section 775.084, Florida Statutes. Subsection (2) clearly provides that the placing of a defendant on probation or community control, even without an adjudication of guilt, shall be treated as a prior conviction for purposes of habitual felony offender sentencing. However, the Fourth District's interpretation of this subsection renders it essentially meaningless and frustrates the clear intent of the Legislature.

Contrary decisions have been reached by the Second District. Certified conflict should be resolved in favor of the Second

District's decision in McCall.

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRONEOUSLY INTERPRETED PROVISIONS OF THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE; THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IS CONTRARY TO LEGISLATIVE INTENT AND GIVES SECTION 775.084(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, NO EFFECT; CERTIFIED CONFLICT SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF MCCALL

"Habitual felony offender" is defined in section 775.084 (1)(a), Florida Statutes (2002). In the instant case, it is without question that the Respondent qualifies as a habitual felony offender under that section. The issue in the instant case is whether the separate sentence requirement of section 775.084(5) was satisfied by the Respondent being placed on probation for conviction for possession of cocaine. It is the Petitioner's position that this section was satisfied and that the Fourth District erroneously interpreted provisions of the habitual offender statute. The Petitioner respectfully submits that the Fourth District's interpretation of the habitual felony offender statute was contrary to legislative intent. Review of this issue is *de novo*:

. . . This question of statutory interpretation is subject to *de novo* review . . . Our purpose in construing a statute is to give effect to the Legislature's intent . . . When a statute is clear, courts will not look behind the statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction to ascertain intent .

. . . Instead, the statute's plain and ordinary meaning must control, unless this leads to an unreasonable result or a result clearly contrary to legislative intent . . .

State v. Burris, 875 So. 2d 408, 410 (Fla. 2004)(internal citations omitted). The Fourth District's interpretation of subsections (2) and (5) of section 775.084 are contrary to the plain language of those subsections. Accordingly, that decision should be reversed by this Court.

In order to qualify as a habitual felony offender, a defendant must have "previously been convicted of any combination of two or more felonies in this state or other qualified offenses." Section 775.084(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (2002). A separate sentencing requirement applies to the prior felonies:

In order to be counted as a prior felony for purposes of sentencing under this section, the felony must have resulted in a conviction sentenced separately prior to the current offense and sentenced separately from any other felony conviction that is to be counted as a prior felony.

Section 775.084(5), Florida Statutes (2002)². The Fourth District has concluded that the prior felonies in this case do not meet the requirements of this section - which the Court

²This subsection was added to the habitual offender statute by the Legislature in 1993. See, Chapter 93-406, section 2, Laws of Florida (1993)(effective date June 17, 1993).

refers to as the "sequential conviction requirement" - since the record does not reflect that the Respondent was sentenced on the prior convictions at separate sentencing proceedings; in reaching this conclusion, the Court has concluded that the Respondent was sentenced on the prior convictions on the same day, namely September 23, 1993. Richardson, 28 Fla. L. Weekly at D1717. The Petitioner respectfully disagrees with this conclusion.

The record reflects that the Respondent was convicted for possession of cocaine, case # 93-4322, on April 14, 1993, and was placed on probation. Richardson, 29 Fla. L. Weekly at D215. (The Petitioner will refer to this as the "first prior".) Thereafter, the Respondent was convicted for grand theft, case # 93-15462, on September 23, 1993 ("second prior"); on that date he was also found to be in violation of probation on the cocaine charge, and was sentenced on both the violation of probation ("VOP") and the grand theft conviction. Id.

In its original opinion, the Fourth District concluded that the separate sentencing requirement was not met since the Respondent was not actually sentenced on the first prior conviction until he was found to be in violation of probation, which was on the same day that he was sentenced on the second prior conviction. Id. Since the record did not reflect separate

sentencing proceedings on that day, the Fourth District reversed the trial court's order denying the Respondent's post-conviction motion and remanded the matter for further proceedings. Id.

The basis of this holding was the Fourth District's conclusion that "[a] sentence and probation are distinct concepts . . . [w]hen a defendant is placed on probation, the court *must stay and withhold the imposition of sentence* regardless of whether adjudication of guilt is withheld." Id. (emphasis in opinion). In support, the Fourth District cited section 948.01(2), Florida Statutes and Rule 3.790(a), Fla. R. Crim. P.

On rehearing, the Fourth District considered section 775.084(2), Florida Statutes, which provides that "the placing of a person on probation for community control without an adjudication of guilt shall be treated a prior conviction" for habitual offender sentencing, and held that this section was not rendered meaningless in its original opinion. Richardson, 29 Fla. L. Weekly at D216. Again, the State disagrees with this conclusion and respectfully submits that the Fourth District's interpretation of subsections (2) and (5) of the habitual offender statute is contrary to legislative intent and is clearly erroneous.

It is the clear intent of the Legislature that the placing

of a defendant on probation or community control constitutes a "prior conviction" for purposes of habitual offender sentencing:

For purposes of this section, the placing of a person on probation or community control without an adjudication of guilt shall be treated as a prior conviction.

Section 775.084(2), Florida Statutes (2002)³. Since the Respondent was placed on probation (and actually convicted) for the first prior on April 14, 1993, then a consistent reading of section 775.084(2) and section 775.084(5) must mean that he was sentenced on the first prior on that date. Since he was sentenced on the second prior on September 23, 1993, the separate sentencing requirement has been satisfied and he was therefore properly sentenced as a habitual felony offender.

This reading is in accordance with decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal ("Second District"). In McCall v. State, 862 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the defendant challenged his habitual felony sentence on the grounds that he lacked the necessary predicate offenses. Id. at 807-808. In

³This section previously ended with the language: ". . . if the subsequent offense for which for which the person is to be sentenced was committed during such period of probation or community control." This language was removed by the Legislature in 1999. See, Chapter 99-188, section 3, Laws of Florida (1999). The Respondent's first prior would also qualify under this previous version of 775.084(2) since there is no question that he committed the second prior while he was on probation for the first prior.

that case, McCall was originally placed on probation for his first offense on September 16, 1991; thereafter, on May 6, 1992, he was convicted for two additional offenses and, on the same day, he was found to be in violation of probation on the first offense. Id. at 808. The Second District specifically rejected McCall's argument that he was sentenced for the first time on the first offense when he was found in violation of probation and that his sentences on all the offenses were therefore entered on the same day. Id. The Second District also rejected his argument that probation was not a sentence for purposes of habitual offender sentencing. Id.

When it enacted the habitual felony offender statute, the legislature intended that once a defendant had twice been convicted with sanctions the third conviction would be enhanced. We find that a sentence, as referred to in section 775.084, includes the sanction of probation.

Id. Conflict with the original opinion in the instant case was certified. Id.

Likewise, in Teal v. State, 862 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District rejected the defendant's argument that the sanction of community control did not qualify as a predicate offense for habitual felony offender sentencing. Id. at 872. In that case, Teal was adjudicated guilty of robbery in 1992 and placed on community control for two years followed by

two years of probation. Id. He later violated community control and received a prison term. Id. Teal was sentenced as a habitual offender in 1997 with the predicate convictions being the robbery offense, upon which he was originally placed on community control, and a 1991 kidnapping conviction. Id. The Second District rejected Teal's argument that he was not sentenced on the robbery case until he actually received a prison term upon violation of community control:

In his motion, Teal claimed that it was improper to use the conviction in case number 91-20507⁴ as a predicate conviction because the trial court originally placed him on community control. He contended that placement on community control was not a sentence; instead, he asserted that he received a sentence in case number 91-20507 only after the trial court found him guilty of violating his community control and imposed the sentence of 5.5 years in prison. Teal further argued that because the prison sentence in case number 91-20507 was imposed on the same day that he was convicted and habitualized in the present case, the conviction in case number 91-20507 was not a proper predicate for habitualization pursuant to section 775.084(5), Florida Statutes (2002). We disagree.

Id. This is a clear rejection of the Fourth District's holding that placing a defendant on probation cannot qualify as sentence for purposes for habitual felony offender sentencing. Accordingly, the Teal Court certified conflict with the original

⁴The robbery case. Id.

opinion in the instant case. Id. at 873⁵.

The Second District's decisions in McCall and Teal correctly reflect the Legislature's intent that the placing of a defendant on probation or community control qualifies as a prior conviction for purposes of habitual felony offender sentencing. However, based upon the instant decision, a probation offense will qualify as a prior conviction only if the defendant actually violates probation and is given a prison term. The Petitioner respectfully submits that this is contrary to the plain language of section 775.084(2) and actually gives that section no effect whatsoever. "It is axiomatic that all parts of a statute must be read *together* in order to achieve a consistent whole . . . Where possible, courts must give effect to *all* statutory provisions and construe statutory provisions in harmony with one another." T.R. v. State, 677 So. 2d 270, 271

⁵Since Teal, the Second District has certified conflict with Richardson in at least ten other opinions: Scott v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D1018 (Fla. 2d DCA April 23, 2004); Pruitt v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D1018 (Fla. 2d DCA April 23, 2004); McClellan v. State, 873 So. 2d 546 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Sheridan v. State, 873 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Stevens v. State, 880 So. 2d 784 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Hannah v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D1713 (Fla. 2d DCA July 23, 2004); Stokes v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D1786 (Fla. 2d DCA August 6, 2004); McDonald v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D2022 (Fla. 2d DCA September 3, 2004); Ely v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D2055 (Fla. 2d DCA September 10, 2004); Stanford v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D2156 (Fla. 2d DCA September 24, 2004).

(Fla. 1996)(internal citations omitted)(emphasis in original).
"Courts should construe statutes to give effect to all provisions, and not to render any part meaningless." Palm Beach County Canvassing Board v. Harris, 772 So. 2d 1273, 1286 (Fla. 2000). See also, Unruh v. State, 669 So. 2d 242, 245 (Fla. 1996). The instant decision renders section 775.084(2) essentially meaningless. The Legislature has provided that the placing of a person on probation shall be treated as a prior conviction for habitual felony sentencing; however, the Fourth District has held that a probation case only qualifies once the defendant violates probation and is sentenced to a prison term on the VOP. This is contrary to Legislative intent. The Legislature has determined that **the placing** of a defendant on probation shall be treated as a prior conviction, not **the violation** of that probation. Therefore, the Legislature has determined that probation, or community control, is a prior conviction for habitual sentencing whether or not there is a violation of probation or community control.

The Fourth District, in its supplemental opinion, maintains that subsection (5), the separate sentencing requirement, "modifies" subsection (2). Richardson, 29 Fla. L. Weekly at D216. However, under the Fourth District's interpretation, subsection (5) "modifies" subsection (2) to the extent of

voiding it completely. Under Richardson, the actual placing of a defendant on probation, without a VOP, would never qualify as a prior conviction for habitual offender sentencing. The Fourth District attempts to show how subsection (2) remains viable after Richardson; however, the Court's example is unconvincing since it presupposes - indeed, **requires** - a violation of probation in order to give effect to this subsection. 29 Fla. L. Weekly at D216. Consequently, the **placing** of a defendant on probation has no effect; this is contrary to legislative intent as evidenced by the plain language of the subsection. Therefore, the Fourth District's interpretation is clearly erroneous and should be reversed by this Court.

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