IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Supreme Court Case No.: SC04-174 DCA Case No.: 4D02-4985

vs.

ERICK RICHARDSON,

Respondent.

Answer Brief of Respondent Erick Richardson

____/

John R. Blue, FBN 006999 Joseph H. Lang, Jr., FBN 059404 Christine R. Dean, FBN 569372 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Corporate Center Three at International Plaza 4221 W. Boy Scout Boulevard Tampa FL 33607-5736 Telephone: (813) 223-7000 Facsimile: (813) 229-4133

Attorneys for Respondent Erick Richardson

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

C. The Fourth District's Interpretation Of Subsection 775.084(5) Does Not Deprive Subsection 775.084(2) Of All Effect.

The State argues that the Fourth District's reading of subsection five deprives subsection 775.084(2) of all effect. In. Br. at 13. The State is wrong. But, as an initial matter, it must be noted that the plain language of subsection two does

⁶ The State seemingly recognizes this tension in its Initial Brief in this Court, as it has dropped the usage of the idea of re-sentencing in this briefing. Instead, it carefully explains that the imposition of probation was a sentence simply "for purposes of the habitual offender statute." In. Br. at 2. The State was not so careful in its Response filed in the Fourth District, wherein it argued: "the Appellant's sentence of 15 months in case # 93-4233 [the possession of cocaine case] was actually a re-sentencing since he originally received a sentence of two years [sic] probation." State's Fourth District Response at 2-3. The State's semantics aside, the double-jeopardy problem remains.

not even apply to the facts of this case. Subsection two provides:

For the purposes of this section, the placing of a person on probation or community control without an adjudication of guilt shall be treated as a prior conviction.

In this case, Mr. Richardson was adjudicated guilty of possession of cocaine in 1993 and placed on probation. Thus, subsection two, which addresses situations wherein a person is placed on probation without an adjudication of quilt, is inapposite to Richardson's case. Mr. This observation underscores the different requirements imposed by subsections two and five. There is no need to apply subsection two to Mr. Richardson, because it is clear that his conviction for possession of cocaine was prior to his conviction for grand theft, both of which were prior to his conviction for robbery. But, subsection five is not concerned with the separateness of Mr. Richardson's convictions. It requires something more. Ιt requires that the sentencing proceedings also be separate and sequential.

Nevertheless, the Fourth District did reconcile the two subsections in order to properly state the rule of law for cases wherein a defendant is placed on probation for one of the alleged predicate felonies without an adjudication of guilt and later sentenced (after a violation of probation) on that

predicate felony on the same day as the sentencing for another predicate felony. The Fourth District got it right.

Subsection five imposes a distinct requirement from subsection two. As stated above, subsection five requires that "the felony must have resulted in a conviction sentenced separately prior to the current offense and sentenced separately from any other felony conviction that is to be counted as a prior felony." There is no doubt that the placing of a person on community control or probation shall be counted as a prior conviction whether or not adjudication is initially withheld. But still, such a prior conviction must also comply with the sequential sentencing proceeding requirement of subsection five. The requirement of subsection five does not deprive subsection two of all meaning. The Fourth District gave the following good example to show why that is true:

> If, for example, a person is adjudicated revocation of probation quilty upon and simultaneously adjudicated guilty of new а offense, the VOP conviction shall be treated as a "prior" conviction for habitualization on the new offense as long as sentencing for the VOP occurs in a separate proceeding before sentencing for the new offense. This gives meaning to both subsections. Based on subsection two, the VOP conviction shall be treated as a "prior" offense even though both adjudications occurred at the same time.

Ignoring this reality, the State invites this Court to disregard the plain language of subsection five in cases where

the defendant was placed on probation in one proceeding, and not sentenced until after a violation of probation (and then at the same time of another predicate sentencing). In doing so, the State argues that the Fourth District's conclusion is clearly erroneous because it creates a requirement of a violation of probation (VOP). <u>See</u> In. Br. at 14 (the Fourth District's example above "is unconvincing since it presupposes-indeed, **requires**-a violation of probation in order to give effect to" subsection two (emphasis in original)).

With all due respect, that does not make the Fourth District's conclusion clearly erroneous. Instead, the Fourth District maintained the meaning of subsection two, while also remaining faithful to the literal requirements of subsection five. The Legislature is presumed to know that the imposition probation is an option a trial court has at its disposal. The Legislature is also presumed to know what the legal effect of the imposition of probation will be. <u>See supra</u>, at 13, 14. Yet, the Legislature still chose to require sequential sentencing proceedings.

There is nothing irrational about that choice, and there is certainly nothing irrational or clearly erroneous about the courts respecting and enforcing that legislative choice. Indeed, as the legislative history below demonstrates, one of the reasons subsection five was enacted in the first place was

to reverse the effect of the <u>State v. Barnes</u> decision, see <u>supra</u>, at 13, 14, and to focus on targeting only the most serious habitual offenders. It is perfectly logical to think that the Legislature intended the actual effect of subsection five to be as the <u>Richardson</u> court ruled it should be, and that the Legislature was not just drafting statutory language, as plain as its requirements are, that it did not intend, as the State would suggest.

D. In All Events, The Rule Of Lenity Requires The Result Reached By The Fourth District.

As explained above, the result dictated by subsection five could not be plainer. Nevertheless, if there is an ambiguity in the interplay between subsections two and five, the statutory rule of lenity should apply to require the statute to be construed in the manner most favorable to Mr. Richardson. Specifically, section 775.021, Florida Statutes, reads in relevant part as follows:

775.021 Rules of construction.--

(1) The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

As this Court explained in <u>State v. Huggins</u>, 802 So. 2d 276, 279 (Fla. 2001), a criminal defendant is not held to the burden of showing the State's construction of a statute is

unreasonable; rather, if there are two reasonable constructions of a statute, the courts are required to opt for the one that is most favorable to the accused: "Neither the State's nor the defendant's interpretation of the language 'occupied structure or dwelling' can be said to be unreasonable. Because we hold that the phrase 'occupied structure or dwelling' as used in section 775.082(8)(1)(q) is susceptible to differing constructions, we are bound to construe the language most favorably to the defendant."

In sum, although the State repeatedly argues that the legislative intent in this case is clear, it has cited no legislative history for subsection five. The very language of the subsection speaks for itself; it requires sequential sentencing proceedings. But, to the extent that legislative history exists, it supports Mr. Richardson's construction of the statute.

A review of the House of Representatives Committee On Criminal Justice Final Bill Analysis & Economic Impact Statement for Senate Bill 26-B (chapter 93-406, Laws of Florida, as passed) reveals that the statute was amended to reverse the effect of the previously-mentioned <u>State v. Barnes</u> opinion, in the accused's favor. For instance, on page 6 of the Report describing the present situation in 1993, the Report states:

In February 1992, the Florida Supreme Court ruled in State v. Barnes, 595 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 1992), that in order to qualify as a habitual felony offender, the statutory requirement of two prior felony convictions may arise from a single prior sentencing event. For example, an offender who was previously convicted of two counts of purchasing cocaine at a single sentencing event would now be eligible for sentencing as a habitual offender. Prior to the Barnes decision, offender the habitual statute had been interpreted to require sequentially separate convictions, at separate sentencing events. In Barnes, the court noted that:

..(t)his construction of the statute, in accordance with its plain meaning, may cause many more defendants to be sentenced as habitual offenders, resulting in longer prison terms, and thus may have a substantial effect on the prison population. The sequential conviction requirement provides а basic, underlying reasonable justification for the imposition of the habitual sentence, and we suggest that the legislature reexamine this area of the law to assure that the present statute carries out its intent and purpose. Id. at 24.

In another section of the Report entitled "Current Status of Florida's Prison Capacity," see page 11 of the Report, it is reported that "[t]he Department indicates that if the current situation continues, the entire prison population will be comprised of inmates who are statutorily ineligible for release by spring of 1996, a condition known as 'gridlock.'"

Finally, on page 16 the Report describes the changes to section 775.084 made by the legislation:

This bill amends s. 775.084, Fla. Stat. to revise the criteria for sentencing habitual felony offenders. Specifically, an offender may be designated as a "habitual felony offender" only if the felony for which the is to be sentenced and one of the last two felony convictions, is <u>not</u> a violation of s. 893.13, Fla. Stat., relating to the purchase or the possession of a controlled substance.

Additionally, in response to the Florida Supreme Court's decision in the <u>Barnes</u> case, the following language is added to the habitual offender statute: "in order to be counted as a qualifying prior felony, the felony must have resulted in a conviction sentenced separately prior to the current offense and sentenced separately from any other felony conviction that is to be counted as a prior felony."

(Emphasis in original.). The legislative intent in amending section 775.084 in 1993 was two-fold: First, the Legislature intended to require at least one of the prior felony convictions to be something other than a possession conviction under section 893.13, in an effort to reduce the number of habitual offenders with only possession felony convictions. Second, the Legislature intended to reverse the <u>Barnes</u> decision, to the accused's favor. With these two facts being the case, it is difficult to imagine how the State says that the clear intent of the Legislature is frustrated by the Fourth District's conclusion.

In fact, a prior and similar version of subsection two was on the books when the Legislature enacted subsection five in 1993 and, under the facts of Mr. Richardson's case, both

versions of subsection two would apply alike. Subsection two previously read as follows:

(2) For the purposes of this section, the placing of a person on probation without an adjudication of guilt shall be treated as a prior conviction if the subsequent offense for which the person is to be sentenced was committed during such probationary period.

§ 775.084(2), Fla. Stat. (1993).

In all events, it cannot be said that the legislative intent in amending section 775.084 in 1993 was to act to the accused's disfavor. Instead, it is clear that the amendment was to reduce prison overcrowding and to reverse the <u>Barnes</u> ruling, to the accused's favor. As a similar version of subsection two was on the books at that time, the best the State can do is show that reading subsections two and five together may be ambiguous, but the State does not have the better of the legislative intent argument. Neither can the Fourth District's interpretation be said to be unreasonable. That being the case, the statutory rule of lenity is implicated, and the Fourth District's construction of the statute must control.

II. OTHER ISSUES REGARDING MR. RICHARDSON'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE SHOULD BE ADDRESSED BY A COURT.

A. Standard of Review.

Mr. Richardson raised an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as his third issue in his motion for post-conviction relief. The standard of review for ineffective assistance of

counsel claims under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) is two-pronged: this Court defers to the trial court's factual findings, but this Court's ultimate conclusions as to defectiveness and prejudice are reviewed *de novo*. <u>Bruno v.</u> <u>State</u>, 807 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 2001).

In this case, the trial judge summarily denied Mr. Richardson's claim for the reasons stated in the State's response to the motion, which response the trial court attached. Accordingly, the trial judge made none of his own findings of fact, but simply adopted by reference those arguments made by the State. The trial court apparently never ruled on this issue as refined in Mr. Richardson's amended motion, nor on the motion for leave to file that amended motion.

As to Mr. Richardson's following effort to raise an issue related to <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 2536 (2004), it is a pure issue of law that he is raising, and pure issues of law are reviewed de novo by this Court. <u>See Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000)("[T]he standard of review for a pure issue of law is de novo.").

B. A Court Should Address Other Issues Regarding Mr. Richardson's Conviction And Sentence.

If this Court exercises its discretion to resolve the certified conflict, it then has jurisdiction to review the entire record in this case. See Ocean Trail Unit Owners Ass'n

<u>v. Mead</u>, 650 So. 2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1995)("Having accepted jurisdiction to answer the certified question, we may review the entire record for error."); <u>Lawrence v. Florida E. Coast Ry.</u>, 346 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1977)(same). That being the case, Mr. Richardson asks this Court to review the record for error in two further respects.

First, Mr. Richardson raised an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as his third issue in his motion for postconviction relief. The basis of the claim was that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate potentially exculpatory taxi cab logs maintained by his alleged robbery victim. Mr. Richardson believes that those logs would demonstrate that the victim of his alleged robbery had a prior relationship with him, as he repeatedly had gone to Mr. Richardson's apartment to buy drugs.

The trial court summarily denied this claim, and simply adopted by reference those arguments made by the State. On appeal, the Fourth District initially demonstrated a level of interest in this claim by ordering the State to respond to it: "ORDERED that the parties shall address Appellant's Third Claim that counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate potentially exculpatory evidence." Fourth District Show Cause Order dated January 22, 2003.

Despite demonstrating an initial interest in this issue, however, the Fourth District did not address the point at all, one way or the other, in its decision. This Court should review the record and either grant the relief sought or, at a minimum, order an evidentiary hearing on the issue upon remand.

Second, since briefing was completed in the Fourth District, the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 2536 (2004), holding that factors which enhance a defendant's sentence from the presumptive sentencing guidelines must be decided by a jury. Thus, Mr. Richardson should be entitled to a retroactive application of <u>Blakely</u> requiring a jury to find whether "it is not necessary for the protection of the public to sentence the offender as a habitual felony offender." <u>See</u> § 775.084(3)(a)6., Fla. Stat. (2004).

Although not raised below, Mr. Richardson did not have the benefit of the <u>Blakely</u> decision at the time he filed his pro se motion or filed his pro se Fourth District briefs. For that reason, he should be allowed to raise the issue now. Moreover, we invite the Court to address this issue in this case, as it is an issue of statewide importance and is brewing in the district courts. <u>See Frumenti v State</u>, 2004 WL 2254703 (Fla. 5th DCA Oct. 8, 2004); <u>McBride v. State</u>, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D2235, D2236 (Fla. 4th DCA Oct. 6, 2004). If the Court is inclined to

address the <u>Blakely</u>/retroactivity issue in this case, the undersigned counsel would be happy to offer supplemental briefing to assist the Court.

CONCLUSION

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